STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

**ORIGINAL
RECEIVED**

SEP 26 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WILLIAM HOWARD HEATH,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000938

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether, under Rule 403, SCRE, where appellant was accused of sexually abusing his daughter, the trial court erred in admitting into evidence and allowing the State to display highly inflammatory images of pornography found on appellant's iPad with watermarks from websites called "IncestTV.com" and "daughterdestruction.com" where the unfair prejudice grossly outweighed the probative value?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting as a hearsay exception the complainant's responses to questions from police officers after the alleged assault?

3.

Where the criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first-degree statute was amended to increase the maximum penalty from thirty years' imprisonment to life imprisonment during the middle of the date range alleged in the indictment, did the trial court err in sentencing appellant to life imprisonment under the amended statute?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August 2016 and April 2018, a Lexington County grand jury indicted appellant William H. Heath for first degree criminal sexual conduct (“CSC”) with a minor, second degree CSC with a minor, and two counts of third-degree CSC. R. 534. On May 7, 2018, appellant was tried before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon and a jury. R. 1. Suzanne Mayes and Kate Usry represented the State. R. 1. Wayne Floyd and Colin Spangler represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 517, l. 7 – 518, l. 5. Judge McMahon sentenced appellant to consecutive sentences of life imprisonment for first-degree CSC, ten years’ imprisonment on each count of third-degree CSC, and twenty years’ imprisonment for second-degree CSC. R. 231, l. 20 – 532, l. 21. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review on issues one and two is abuse of discretion. “The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.” State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id. at 429–30, 632 S.E.2d at 848. The standard of review on issue three is de novo as it is a pure question of law. Univ. of S. California v. Moran, 365 S.C. 270, 275, 617 S.E.2d 135, 137 (Ct. App. 2005).

ARGUMENT

1.

Under Rule 403, SCRE, where appellant was accused of sexually abusing his daughter, the trial court erred in admitting into evidence and allowing the State to display highly inflammatory images of pornography found on appellant's iPad with watermarks from websites called "IncestTV.com" and "DaughterDestruction.com" where the unfair prejudice grossly outweighed the probative value.

Introduction

In this sexual abuse case, the jury's ability to rationally judge appellant's guilt based on the evidence was overwhelmed by the admission of highly inflammatory pornographic images. (State's Ex. 22, 34, 35, 36, 37, and 38). Not only were the images themselves sexually explicit and needlessly prejudicial, but the images contained "watermarks" of webpage names whose admission attacked appellant's character and portrayed him as interested in deviant, incestual sex. (State's Ex. 22, 34, 35, 36, 37, and 38). The images were pulled from appellant's iPad and displayed the names "IncestTV.com" and "DaughterDestruction.com." (State's Ex. 22, 34, 35, 36, 37, and 38). Neither the images nor the names of these websites were admissible under Rule 403, SCRE and because this error nullified the jury's decision-making, it cannot be harmless.

Factual and Procedural Background

The State indicted appellant on four counts of sexually abusing his daughter. R. 534 (Indictments). The four indictments included the following time periods: (1) September 16, 2004, through September 15, 2007; (2) September 17, 2011, through September 15, 2013; (3) on or about December 1, 2014; and (4) on or about April 26, 2016. R. 534 (Indictments).

Appellant's daughter ("Complainant") was twenty years old at the time of trial. R. 104, ll. 12 – 14. She lived with her mother, older brother, and her father, appellant. R. 104, l. 15 – 108, l. 22.

Complainant claimed the sexual abuse began when she was "[s]even or eight" and in the second grade. R. 107, ll. 10 – 15. She said, "My father came into my room and just—you know, he used his mouth on me and then he left and that was it." R. 107, l. 21 – 108, l. 1. She described appellant performing oral sex on her and digital penetration. R. 109, l. 9 – 111, l. 7. Appellant also forced her to perform oral sex on him. R. 113, ll. 12 – 23. Appellant told her "not to tell," would get angry, hit her, and threaten to kill her. R. 111, l. 15 – 112, l. 4.

Despite having moved out of the house and away from appellant for periods of time and a DSS intervention in her childhood where complainant was assigned a counselor, she waited until she was seventeen years old to report the alleged abuse. R. 146, l. 16 – 147, l. 20. A "Dr. Luberoff" worked with appellant during this period. R. 147, ll. 15 – 16. Complainant agreed she had "a lot of counselors" and remembered the involvement of social workers, but never told any of these child welfare specialists that her father was sexually abusing her. R. 147, l. 8 – 148, l. 2. Nor did complainant ever tell her older brother, who was serving in the military in South Korea at the time of the trial, whose bedroom was always next door to complainant's. R. 151, l. 14 – 153, l. 15. R. 105, ll. 22 – 25. Complainant acknowledged that her older brother might have been awake "but unaware" during the alleged abuse occurring in the room next door. R. 105, ll. 5 – 17.

The police learned about complainant's allegations on the night of April 26, 2015, and an officer was dispatched at 11:22 PM. R. 38, l. 12 – 39, l. 4. After an alleged assault that night, complainant texted her aunt and told her about the abuse. R. 128, l. 15 – 129, l. 16. Her aunt called her mother and the police were notified. R. 246, ll. 22 – 23. R. 129, ll. 11 – 16.

However, at the beginning of the school year, between August and October, complainant lived with this same aunt. R. 118, l. 13 – 119, l. 21. Complainant's mother left appellant and they lived with the aunt. R. 118, l. 13 – 119, l. 21. Despite being in a house away from appellant, complainant did not tell her mother or her aunt about the alleged abuse at that time. R. 154, l. 7 – 156, l. 8. R. 267, ll. 18 – 23. Her mother eventually moved them back in with appellant and complainant still said nothing. R. 154, l. 7 – 156, l. 8.

On the night the police were called, complainant testified that her mother was at work and she was home with appellant. R. 119, l. 22 – 121, l. 6. She refused to have sex with appellant, so appellant gave her "stuff" to do, such as "clean up, like, the dishes or the tables, taking stuff outside." R. 119, l. 22 – 121, l. 6. Appellant had been drinking. R. 119, l. 22 – 121, l. 6. Appellant became angrier and "really forceful" and she performed oral sex on appellant on the couch in the living room. R. 122, l. 15 – 123, l. 22. Appellant wanted complainant to go into the bedroom, but she refused and he made her do more chores. R. 123, l. 23 – 124, l. 6.

Complainant thereafter went into the bedroom with appellant. R. 124, l. 3 – 128, l. 1. She said appellant "would just rub his private parts against mine from the back." R. 124, l. 3 – 128, l. 1. He also digitally penetrated her and performed oral sex on her. R. 124, l. 3 – 128, l. 1. Complainant left and locked herself in her room. R. 124, l. 3 – 128, l. 1. At that point she began texting her aunt and the police eventually arrived. R. 128, l. 15 – 129, l. 16. R. 38, l. 12 – 39, l. 4.

A detective interviewed appellant at the scene and told him about his daughter's allegations. R. 294, l. 25 – 295, l. 25. Appellant denied the allegations and "said that he did not know why [complainant] would say something like that." R. 294, l. 25 – 295, l. 25. Appellant talked to complainant "about helping out more around the house because she stays shut up in her

bedroom.” R. 294, l. 25 – 295, l. 25. After that conversation, complainant went to her room. R. 294, l. 25 – 295, l. 25.

Complainant testified that during the sexual assault that night, appellant was watching pornography on his iPad. R. 124, ll. 16 – 22. She said appellant had done this in the past, as well. R. 124, l. 20 – 125, l. 10. The solicitor had complainant identify State’s Ex. 22 as an image from a video she saw on appellant’s iPad during the assault. R. 139, l. 14 – 140, l. 16.

As its last witness, the State called Detective Michael Phipps (“Phipps”), who conducted a forensic examination of the iPad. R. 360, l. 2 – 363, l. 4. The State had Detective Phipps identify State’s Ex. 30, which was a disc that contained the extraction from the iPad. R. 363, l. 5 – 364, l. 20. When the solicitor offered the disc into evidence, appellant objected and Judge McMahon excused the jury to hear argument. R. 364, l. 21 – 365, l. 17.

Appellant explained that he objected to the pornography on the iPad. R. 365, l. 20 – 370, l. 7. Appellant first objected that pornography found at 10:00 PM on December 2, 2014, had no relevance because it was outside of the time frame of the indictment, which only alleged an assault on December 1, 2014. R. 365, l. 20 – 370, l. 7. Appellant then argued that displaying the pornographic images to the jury, including the April 26, 2015, images, were no necessary, not probative, and would unfairly prejudice him with the jury. R. 365, l. 20 – 370, l. 7.

Judge McMahon overruled the objection, finding under Rule 403, SCRE, that the images corroborated complainant’s testimony. R. 369, l. 10 – 370, l. 16. The court cited State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014), and ruled that the images from April 26, 2015, were not unduly prejudicial. R. 369, l. 10 – 370, l. 16. As for the December 2, 2014, image, the court ruled the timing was an issue of weight, not admissibility. R. 369, l. 10 – 370, l. 16. The entire extraction was not admitted into evidence, but when the images were separately admitted and

enlarged in size before the jury, appellant renewed his objections.¹ R. 385, l. 15 – 399, l. 22. Detective Phipps was the State’s last witness and the last evidence discussed in the State’s case were the pornographic images. R. 385, l. 15 – 399, l. 25.

DISCUSSION

The trial court erred in admitting these pornographic images because their unfair prejudice—attacking appellant’s character and portraying him as a deviant interested in incestual sex—grossly outweighed the images’ probative value. Collins lays the framework for a proper Rule 403, SCRE, analysis. Collins at 534-37, 763 S.E.2d at 28-29. The trial court must examine the specific probative value and determine whether the unfair prejudice substantially outweighs such value. Id. The Collins Court emphasized that simple prejudice is not sufficient, but the objecting party must show *unfair* prejudice. Id.

Here, the probative value of the images was to corroborate complainant’s testimony that appellant was watching pornography during assaults. However, what is probative is not the images themselves, but their existence on appellant’s iPad at the times complainant alleged she was assaulted. Importantly, one of the images was outside the scope of the indictment and had no probative value as it could not corroborate complainant’s testimony as to that count. The State could have easily limited its questioning of Detective Phipps to tell the jury that such images existed (within the parameters of the indictment) and the probative value would be the same.

The unfair prejudice is the images’ inflammatory subject matter which attacked appellant’s character and is simple propensity evidence. The image from December 2, 2014—which had no probative value because it was outside the scope of the indictment—portrays a

¹ The specific exhibits to which appellant objected and are the subject of this appeal were State’s Exhibits 22, 34, 35, 36, 37, and 38, all of which have been transported to this Court.

man lying on his back having sex with a young woman while an older woman sits beside them on the bed watching. State's Ex. 37, 38. But even more inflammatory than the image is what Detective Phipps called a "watermark." R. 391, ll. 5 – 6. The image says "IncestTv.com." State's Ex. 37, 38. Detective Phipps further described the website for the jury:

The videos that are hosted on that website all deal with incest in some form. It's more of adult role-playing type. All the images are people of legal age, consenting age. They're categorized three categories; there's a category for mother-son, father-daughter, and brother-sister.

R. 391, ll. 12 – 18.

State's Exhibit 22, an image from April 26, 2015 is not as sexually explicit in its image, but the watermark is far more inflammatory: "DaughterDestruction.com." State's Ex. 22. The image shows an older man fondling a partially clothed younger girl's genitals. State's Ex. 22. It is hard to conceive of something more unfairly prejudicial to a father accused of molesting his daughter than the jury seeing a website called "DaughterDestruction.com." While the fact that the image existed is undeniably relevant and probative, the image itself—combined with the watermark—served only to attack appellant's character and is rank propensity evidence.

Such highly inflammatory propensity evidence is inadmissible under Rule 403. See State v. Nelson, 331 S.C. 1, 501 S.E.2d 716 (1998). While Nelson is a Rule 404 case, it explains the inflammatory nature of the unfair prejudice in this case. In Nelson, the State prosecuted the defendant for molesting a three year old child. Id. The State introduced evidence that portrayed the defendant as a pedophile. Examples of the evidence were videotapes of the Mr. Knozit show, Save the Children advertisements, a photo album of young girls, and the defendant's membership in the Punky Brewster fan club. Id. "Punky Brewster" was a sitcom from the time featuring a child actress in the titular role as Punky Brewster. Id.

None of the evidence improperly admitted in Nelson was pornographic, but the Court reversed because it was only reflected “on an aspect of Petitioner’s character, i.e. that he is a pedophile.” Id. The evidence here is far more unfairly prejudicial than photo albums and a fan club membership.

The State will undoubtedly argue this error is harmless in light of the physical evidence introduced. A SANE nurse examined complainant on the night of April 26 and found appellant’s saliva inside complainant’s underwear and two hairs from appellant gleaned from the examination of complainant’s genital and anal regions. R. 336, l. 6 – 352, l. 12. However, the SLED expert was forced to admit that hairs can transfer when people live in close proximity from sharing towels or otherwise. R. 350, l. 17 – 354, l. 5. Furthermore, the names of the websites alone unequivocally portrayed appellant as a deviant interested in incest. This evidence was improper and unfairly prejudiced the jury against appellant. No reasonable jury could judge appellant’s guilt by the properly admitted evidence and this Court should reverse.

2.

The trial court erred in admitting as a hearsay exception the complainant’s responses to questions from police officers after the alleged assault.

Officer Caleb Black responded to appellant’s home on the night of April 26. R. 270, l. 16 – 271, l. 5. Appellant opened the door and allowed the police into his home to conduct a welfare check on complainant. R. 271, ll. 3 – 25. Officer Black knocked on complainant’s bedroom door. R. 272, ll. 1 – 5. Complainant answered and Officer Black described her: “Her eyes were red. She was crying. She was obviously upset.” R. 272, ll. 6 – 11. When the solicitor asked a question about what complainant said, appellant objected on hearsay grounds. R. 272, ll. 20 – 23. The solicitor declined the judge’s invitation to rephrase her question and

said, “I’d argue time and place and excited utterance.” R. 272, l. 25 – 273, l. 4. Appellant responded, “I don’t think it’s an excited utterance,” and Judge McMahon excused the jury. R. 273, ll. 5 – 9.

The solicitor told the court she was “planning to go into the full information that [complainant] gave Caleb Black on scene that night, which I would argue would be under the excited utterance exception.” R. 273, l. 11 – 277, l. 1. The solicitor argued that complainant was still under the stress of the assault and fell under the excited utterance exception to the prohibition against hearsay. R. 273, l. 11 – 277, l. 1. Appellant argued there was “no kind of testimony the declarant was excited,” she was laying on her bed, and the officer’s interview occurred a half hour after the alleged assault. R. 273, l. 11 – 277, l. 1. The trial judge overruled the objection, finding that the statement was admissible as an excited utterance, *res gestae*, and present sense impression. R. 273, l. 11 – 277, l. 1. Officer Black then testified before the jury that complainant told him that appellant “had rubbed his penis on her” and that “in the past her father had physically forced her to perform oral sex on him.” R. 277, l. 13 – 280, l. 5. Officer Black also testified complainant told him she had performed oral sex on appellant that night. R. 277, l. 13 – 280, l. 5. Complainant then filled out a written statement. R. 277, l. 13 – 280, l. 5.

The statements in response to the officer’s questions were not a present sense impression. Rule 803(1), SCRE states that a present sense impression is, “A statement describing or explaining an event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter.” Rule 803(1), SCRE. The alleged assault had been over for at least a half an hour, so by the text of the rule, the trial judge erred in allowing the hearsay under present sense impression. The statement “must be contemporaneous with the event.” State v. Washington, 424 S.C. 374, 399, 818 S.E.2d 459, 472 (Ct. App. 2018). In Washington,

the Court held that a statement made 20-25 minutes after the event did not qualify as a present sense impression. Id. Under the similar time frame here, present sense impression does not apply.

Nor were the statements admissible as an excited utterance or res gestae. An excited utterance is, "A statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition." Rule 803(2), SCRE. As appellant argued below, the testimony was not that appellant was excited, but that she was upset and in her room. See Washington at 403-04, 818 S.E.2d at 474. The excitement must be to the point where it suspends reflective thought, "reducing the likelihood of fabrication." Id. No evidence shows that complainant's ability to have reflective thought was suspended. A police officer was on scene and conducting an interview. Complainant wrote a statement for the officer. In between the alleged assault and the officer's arrival, complainant had a text message conversation with her aunt. The case cited by the trial judge to support his ruling, State v. Dennis, 321 S.C. 413, 468 S.E.2d 674 (Ct. App. 1996), does not apply. In Dennis, decided under res gestae, the Court held that statements made by a sexual assault victim to a nurse at a hospital were admissible. However, the nurse noted the victim was so hysterical the nurse had to stop the interview. Complainant was not hysterical, but was upset. Dennis shows that neither excited utterance nor res gestae apply and this Court should reverse.

3.

Where the criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first-degree statute was amended to increase the maximum penalty from thirty years' imprisonment to life imprisonment during the middle of the date range alleged in the indictment, the trial court erred in sentencing appellant to life imprisonment under the amended statute.

When Judge McMahon asked the solicitor for the sentencing range for first-degree CSC, she explained that the current statute provides a range of twenty-five years to life imprisonment, but that this statute was enacted during the middle of the time frame alleged in the indictment. R. 524, ll. 1 – 25. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(D)(1). The indictment alleged one count that occurred between September 16, 2004, and September 15, 2007. R. 541.

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