ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000938

RECEIVED

OCT 02 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WILLIAM HOWARD HEATH,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

S. R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main Street
Lexington Judicial Center
Lexington, SC 29072
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly admitted pornographic images found on Appellant's iPad because said images were associated with specific incidents of criminal sexual conduct for which Appellant was charged and corroborated Victim's testimony. Further, any alleged error in the admission of these images is harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in admitting pornographic images from Appellant's iPad possessing watermarks of "IncestTV.com" and "DaughterDestruction.com." The State disagrees with these allegations of error. Initially, the State notes questions regarding the watermarks specifically are not preserved for review because Appellant failed to argue their impropriety to the trial judge and instead argued only the general relevance and prejudice of the images. As to the merits of Appellant's claim, trial judge properly exercised his discretion when he determined the images were relevant and corroborated Victim's testimony that Appellant watch pornography while abusing her. Finally, any alleged unfair prejudice is harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt, including the saliva and hairs recovered from Victim and her underwear the night of the final sexual assault.

Issue Preservation

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-13 (Ct. App. 2004); *see also* JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). "If a party fails to

properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal.” *State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005).

Regarding the requirement that a timely objection be raised, a defendant must make a contemporaneous objection to a perceived error during trial in order to preserve the issue for further review. *State v. Blalock*, 357 S.C. 74, 79, 591 S.E.2d 632, 635 (Ct. App. 2003); see *State v. Hoffman*, 312 S.C. 386, 393, 440 S.E.2d 869, 873 (1994) (“A contemporaneous objection is required to properly preserve an error for appellate review.”). Thus, when a perceived error arises; the defendant must object at the first opportunity to do so or the issue is waived. *State v. Sullivan*, 310 S.C. 311, 314, 426 S.E.2d 766, 768 (1993); see *State v. Williams*, 303 S.C. 410, 411, 401 S.E.2d 168, 169 (1991) (“A defendant must object at his first opportunity to preserve an issue for appellate review.”); see also *State v. King*, 349 S.C. 142, 157, n.1, 561 S.E.2d 640, 647 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[N]o objection was made contemporaneously with this testimony so as to preserve the issue for review. King’s belated objection to subsequent testimony came too late.”).

In the instant, Appellant failed to provide issues regarding the watermarks for Appellate review because the issue was never raised to the trial judge, denying him the opportunity to rule on the matter. Appellant’s objections to the admission of the images, were: (1) Image A, created on December 2, 2014, was “no[t] relevant” to the crime occurring on or about December 1, 2014; and (2) generally displaying pornographic images to the jury. No mentions of the watermarks were made during the in camera discussion of the exhibits, nor were any specific objections made when the witnesses mentioned the watermarks during their testimony or the State sought to introduce them into evidence. Notably, the trial judge could have taken action on these watermarks; if he felt they created a danger of unfair prejudice and were not probative of Appellant’s guilt, he could have ordered the watermarks redacted while still allowing the images

to be admitted into evidence. Accordingly, the specific issue of the watermarks is not properly preserved for review by this court.

Analysis

Moreover, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the images into evidence. “The relevancy, materiality, and admissibility of photographs as evidence are matters left to the sound discretion of the trial court.” *State v. Nance*, 320 S.C. 501, 508, 466 S.E.2d 349, 353 (1996). “If the offered photograph serves to corroborate testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it.” *Id.* “A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.” *State v. Lyles*, 379 S.C. 328, 338, 665 S.E.2d 201, 207 (Ct.App.2008) (internal quotation marks omitted).

“To constitute *unfair* prejudice, the photographs must create a ‘tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.’” *State v. Kelley*, 319 S.C. 173, 178, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370-71 (1995) (quoting *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 377, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991)) (emphasis added). “The evaluation of probative value cannot be made in the abstract, but should be made in the practical context of the issues at stake in the trial of each case.” *State v. Gray*, 408 S.C. at 610, 795 S.E.2d at 165.

Here, the trial judge properly allowed Image A and Image B into evidence because the corroborated Victim’s testimony. Victim testified Appellant watched pornography during the later years of his abuse of her. Because of this testimony, the State sought to introduce only images recovered during the periods of time for which Appellant was indicted. Victim recalled watching pornography on both occasions and specifically identified Image B as an image from

the video Appellant watched the night of April 26, 2015 and was created during the window of time Victim testified she was assaulted that night.

In its brief, Appellant concedes the existence of, at least Image B, was “undeniably relevant and probative” of Appellant’s guilt. (Br. of Appellant, p.10). However, he claims the only way the State should have been permitted to present this information to the jury is through Detective Phipps’s statements the images existed. However, “a defendant cannot dictate the manner in which the prosecution tries its case by stipulating to certain facts or by not challenging an element of the offense” and “the prosecution’s burden to prove every element of the crime is not relieved by a defendant’s tactical decision not to contest an essential element of the offense.” See *Estelle v. McGuire*, 502 U.S. 62, 69 (1991); *State v. Martucci*, 380 S.C. at 249, 669 S.E.2d at 607 (citing *State v. Johnson*, 338 S.C. 114, 122, 525 S.E.2d 519, 523 (2000)) (“The State has the right to prove every element of the crime charged and is not obligated to rely upon a defendant’s stipulation.”).

Respondent also submits that Appellant’s argument the images, by nature of being pornographic, were inappropriate for the jury does not rely on the proper test for admissibility. It has long been established that “[a] trial judge is not required to exclude relevant evidence merely because it is unpleasant or offensive.” *Martucci*, 380 S.C. at 250, 669 S.E.2d at 607. See also *Farris v. State*, 328 So.2d 640, 641 (Ala.Crim.App. 1976) (“The colored photograph in question is clearly ghastly; but, gruesomeness is not grounds for excluding this type of evidence, if relevant. ... This photograph was properly admitted into evidence notwithstanding the unpleasant subject matter. We cannot, and should not, gloss over the fact that violent death is itself loathsome.”). Simply, gruesomeness alone does not render the photograph inadmissible. *State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 535–36, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014).

Appellant claims his case is similar to that of *State v. Nelson*, 331 S.C. 1, 501 S.E.2d 716 (1998) in which this Court found the admission of stuffed animals, homemade videotapes containing recorded segments taped from children's television programs, excerpts from children's story books, a photo-album of young girls, and a wallet containing the petitioner's driver's license and a membership card to the official Punky Brewster fan club were improper because the evidence did not have any probative value to the crime for which Nelson was charged and was solely evidence pertaining to his character. Notably, such is not the case in the instant matter; even Appellant concedes the images, which corroborated Victim's testimony, were relevant to the determination of his guilt. Accordingly, the trial judge properly exercised his discretion in admitting Images A and B.

Harmless Error

Finally, any error in the introduction of these photographs must be viewed as non-prejudicial and harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, since it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *See State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) ("Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial"); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) ("When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result"). At worst, the photographs were cumulative to the other evidence, *i.e.* the testimony on the wounds, condition of the body, and the crime scene. *State v. Robinson*, 201 S.C. 230, 22 S.E.2d 587, 588 -589 (1942) ("The photographs, it is true, were only corroborative of the spoken word, and proved to be unnecessary in this particular case, but they were no more than harmless surplusage. They showed material conditions which existed, and were not inflammable fuel to be

consumed by the minds of the jurors, nor do we think that they were calculated to arouse the prejudices of the jury.”). *See also State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003) (improper evidence harmless where merely cumulative to other evidence); *State v. Evans*, 378 S.C. 296, 299, 662 S.E.2d 489, 491 (Ct. App. 2008) (evidence “merely cumulative, insubstantial” did not affect the result of trial and considered harmless).

Even if the trial judge erred in admitting the images, either in their entirety or just the watermarks, any alleged error is harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Appellant’s guilt. Again, Appellant neither disputed at trial, nor does he presently, challenge the idea that the existence of Image B was properly admissible to corroborate Victim’s testimony. Combined with Appellant’s saliva and hairs recovered from Victim after the April 26, 2015 assault, Victim’s testimony was not just persuasive, but overwhelmingly convincing. Reversing Appellant’s conviction for a trial in which the evidence would again prove his guilt would only be a waste of judicial resources.

II.

The trial judge properly admitted Victim's responses to questions from police officers which occurred soon after the alleged assault as hearsay exceptions.

Appellant claims the trial judge erred in admitting Officer Black's testimony regarding Victim's statements she made the night of the attack were improper because they did not qualify as exceptions to the rule against hearsay. The State disagrees with this allegation of error. As noted by the trial judge, Victim's statements were excited utterances and present sense impressions of her assault that night.

Hearsay is defined as "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Rule 801 (c), SCRE. Generally, hearsay is not admissible unless it falls within an exception. Rule 802, SCRE. Hearsay is not admissible unless it is pursuant to an exception provided by the South Carolina Rules of Evidence or other means. Rule 802, SCRE. A statement consistent with the victim's testimony in a criminal sexual conduct case is not hearsay when it is limited to the time and place of the incident. Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE.

Hearsay is also admissible if it falls within the excited utterance exception, which allows statements "relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition." Rule 803 (2), SCRE. There are three elements that must be met to find a statement qualifies as an excited utterance: (1) the statement must relate to a startling event or condition; (2) the statement must have been made while the declarant was under the stress or excitement; and, (3) the stress or excitement must be caused by the startling event. *State v. Ladner*, 373 S.C. 103, 116, 644 S.E.2d 684, 691 (2007). "[T]he intrinsic reliability of an excited utterance derives from the statement's spontaneity which is

-determined by the totality of the circumstances surrounding the statement when it was uttered." *Id.* at 119-20, 644 S.E.2d at 693; *see also State v. Sims*, 348 S.C. 16, 20, 558 S.E.2d 518, 521 (2002) (explaining the "rationale behind the excited utterance exception is that the startling event suspends the declarant's process of reflective thought, reducing the likelihood of fabrication").

The examination of the totality of the circumstances and determination of whether a statement falls within the excited utterance exception is left to the sound discretion of the trial court. *Ladner*, 373 S.C. at 116, 644 S.E.2d at 691. While the passage of time between the startling event and the statement is one factor to consider, it is not the dispositive factor. Even statements made after extended periods of time can be considered an excited utterance as long as they were made under continuing stress. *Sims*, 348 S.C. at 21-22, 558 S.E.2d at 521. Other factors useful in determining whether a statement qualifies as an excited utterance include the declarant's demeanor, the declarant's age, and the severity of the startling event. *Id.* at 22, 558 S.E.2d at 521.

The improper admission of hearsay evidence is not necessarily reversible error, but is subject to a harmless error analysis. *State v. Graham*, 314 S.C. 383, 386, 444 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1994). Appellate courts must determine whether the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* Moreover, whether an error is harmless depends on the particular circumstances of the case. *Id.* The circumstances include, but are not limited to, the importance of the witness' testimony in the State's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination, and the overall strength of the State's case. *Id.* Error is only harmless "when it could not have reasonably affected the result at trial." *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (citation omitted).

Initially, the State notes that, generally, Officer Black could, at the very least, testify as the time (that night) and place (Victim's home) of the assaults that night. See Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE.

In the instant case, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in finding Officer Black's challenged testimony fell within the excited exception to the hearsay rule. Officer Black testified Victim was upset and crying. Further, Officer Black testified he arrived at Victim's home within ten minutes after the police station received the call. Appellant's sole claim was to why Victim's statements could not be an excited utterance are based on the fact trial counsel estimated officers spoke with Victim thirty minutes after the assaults. Not only is this estimation not supported by specific evidence, but time is only one factor in determining whether a statement qualifies as an excited utterance; this Court has found that statements made after greater time intervals may qualify under the exception. See *Sims*, 348 S.C. at 21-22, 558 S.E.2d at 521. Most importantly, Victim spoke with officers within the same place she was assaulted, locked in her room, and displaying behaviors traditionally associated with upset persons.

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